IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF

TENNESSEE
)
JEAN M. LATREILLE )
)
Plaintiff, ) Docket No.
)
VS. )
) JURY DEMAND
MICHAEL J. PARK; and 15" DISCOUNT )
BROKERAGE, INC. )
)
Defendants. )
)

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Jean M. Latreille(OPlaintiffQ), alleges ethfollowing, upon information and
belief, against defendants Maél J. Park (OParkO) aril Discount Brokerage, Inc. (®1

DiscountO):

I. SUMMARY.

1. This complaint involves the defendstdefrauding of Pieiff by mishandling
Plaintiff®s account, which has resultedubstantial damages to Plaintiff.

2. Park executed numerous securities tretimas that were not authorized by, and
were unsuitable for, Plaintiff artthat disregarded PlaintiffOs ethinvestment objectives. This
churning of PlaintiffOs account depleted riiiOs investment through trading losses and
commission charges.

3. Park executed a number of these fraudut@amsactions while he was associated
with 1% Discount. ' Discount failed to adequately supise ParkOs handling of PlaintiffOs
account, thereby contributing to PlaintiffOs losses.
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4. The defendants® actions, or failures to act, have led to the substantial devaluation

of PlaintiffOs account, inolation of numeroustate and federal laws.

II. THE PARTIES.

5. Plaintiff Jean M. Latreille ia resident of Franklin, Tennessee.

6. Defendant Michael J. Park is a residenBrentwood, Tennessee, with an office
located at 216 Centerview Drive, Sui®3, Brentwood, Tennessee, 37027. ParkOs current
employing brokerage firm is*Discount.

7. Defendant %t Discount Brokerage, Inc., is a Flda corporation with its principal
office located at 515 N. Flagler Drive, i&u703, West Palm Beach, Florida, 3340%.Discount

has a branch office located at 216 CentawbDrive, Suite 303, Brentwood, Tennessee, 37027.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE.

8. This Court has jurisdiction over thiction pursuant to Section 27 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 [15 U.S.C. & 78aa] and 28 U.S.C. na 1331 and 1367(a).

9. Defendants, directly or indirectihave each made use of the means or
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate conemce, and/or the mails, in coroten with the transactions,
acts, practices and coursEdusiness alleged herein.

10.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. o 1391(b).

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS.
11. Plaintiff opened an investment accowith Raymond James Financial Services,
Inc. (ORaymond JamesO), where Park was arpatithe recommendation of Park. The account
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was created on or about March 30, 1999. PlaintiffOs initial investment was $32,805.33. The
understanding between Park and mifiwas that Park would mage the account on PlaintiffOs
behalf and invest the money appropriately.

12. During the time PlaintiffOs accountsweith Raymond James, Park only bought
and then subsequently sold one stock on Pifitibehalf. One-hundred ninety (190) shares of
Campbell Soup Company were purchased onl Aprl999 for a totaprice of $7,956.25. All
190 shares were sold on J@8, 1999, at a totgirice of $8,348.125. Afteaccounting for the
total commissions charged to Plaintiff for fxerchase and sale of the Campbell stock B $362.98
b Plaintiff realized a return of $28.90, or 0.38%.

13. By June 12, 2000, all assets contained in the Raymond James account had been
transferred to a newly opened account Wikkomas F. White & Co., Inc. (OTFWO).

14. TFW changed its name to Acument Securities, Inc., in September, 2001. By
August, 2002, Acument had ceased operations. &ytithe, PlaintiffOs account had again been
transferred to a different brokerage firm, this time moving’t®iscount along with Park.

15. Park was discharged by Raymodmmes on or about January 24, 2000, for
signing a clientOs name hatt the clientOs consent.

16.  All except one of PlaintiffOs purfgal signatures on the TFW New Account
Application and the accompamg documents are forgeries.

17.  The total portfolio value at the time thfe transfer to TFW was approximately
$23,500. Therefore, the total value of Plaingiff©Ortfolio had decreased by almost $10,000 in a
little over a yearOs time.

18. Up until the transfer, Plaintiff had paid $1,167.33 in commission charges.

19. Once PlaintiffOs account was transferred to TFW, the buying and selling activity
increased significantly.
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20. Numerous trades, invohg several different individliastocks, were carried out
as either OsolicitedO or Ounsolicited.O

21. Despite the designation of certain tradsssolicited or unsolicited, Park never
contacted Plaintiff to recommend the purchaseade of a particulastock as was required on
many occasions. Similarly, Plaintiff never contackark to direct him to purchase or sell a
particular stock.

22. Park eventually started to purchasel sell Openny stocks.O A penny stock is
widely considered to be anteamely risky and speculative courgkinvestment. Investing in
penny stocks was a course of action chosen Ik #at was wholly unsuited to PlaintiffOs
investment needs and goals.

23. Park did not obtain a signed copy $thedule 15G from Plaintiff prior to
engaging in the purchase or sale of such stookBlaintiffOs behalf, a requirement set forth by
Securities Exchange Commission Rule 15g-2 [©R5g-20) [17 C.F.R. & 240.15g-2]. Park did
not comply with any of the otheequirements of 17 C.F.R. © 240 seq dealing with penny
stocks.

24, By December 31, 2002, the valuePtdintiffOs account had dropped to $4,172.96.
At the time the account was opened withWlkin May of 2000, the account was valued at
approximately $23,500, meaning PlaintiffOs account lost almost $20,000 of value over the course
of thirty-one (31) months.

25. During that period, Park executed a tatiaforty-six (46) dfferent purchase or
sale transactions. A summarythése transactions b includisates bought and kh number of
days held, number of shares ghaised, price per share, totakprpaid or received, commission
charges, net return, and net percentage gained or lost P is attached to this Complaint as Exhibit
A.
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26. Plaintiff was charged $5,653.39%cmmmissions for those transactions.

27. On numerous occasions, Park bought a péatistock and then resold it within a
matter of days. Park bought a stock and thenisaldhin thirty (30) days time on nine separate
instances. These quick purchaaesd sales accounted for almost ralthe transetions during
the thirty-one (31) month span.

28. For example, Park purchased 1963 shafré&aytech Corporation on January 25,
2002, at $4.3248 per share. Three days laterJanuary 28, 2002, Park sold the same 1963
Raytech shares for $3.4405 per share. rAleing charged for commissions on both the
purchase and the sale, Plaintiff suffer@dnet loss of $1,990.92 (-23.17%) on this pair of
transactions.

29. In one instance, Park allowed atjatar stock b ExoduSommunications P to
expire while it was a part of PlaintiffOs poitiolPark had purchased 3090 shares at $1.3295 per
share, for a total cost $4,108.16.te&fpurchase commissions chard@sijntiff suffered a loss of
$4,235.78 because Park failed to sell the stock before it expired.

30. Eventually, the account historyosts that Park © and consequentfyyDiscount
P totally abandoned oversightRiaintiffOs investment account.

31.  As of June 30, 2006, the account@s portfolio value was $6,470.86, a decrease
in value of $26,334.47 B or 80.3% D from thestimwas originally opened with Raymond
James.

32.  Of the $26,334.47 loss, 25.9%6(820.72) is atthutable to commissions charge
to Plaintiff.

33.  Allegations of churning and excessivenooissions have been levied against Park
on at least two (2) previous occasions.

34. In rejecting ParkOs application foeausities salesmancinse in 2000, the Ohio
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Division of Securities determined thaark Owas not of good business repute.O
35. Park paid a $1,500.00 fine in 1999 as altre$an action initiated by the Virginia
Division of Securities upon allegatis of violating a commission rule by obtaining a loan from a

customer.

V. FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 - Churning.

36. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alléga contained in Paragraphs 1-35 as if
fully set forth herein.

37. Park, by making trades that were exsessn light of PlaintiffOs investment
objectives, by exercising control over Plaintif©sount, and by acting with the intent to defraud
or with willful and reckless disgard of PlaintiffOs interests, unlawfully churned PlaintiffOs
account.

38. Park, by churning PlaintiffOs accountatliyeor indirectly, bythe use of a means
or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or @ thails or of a facility of a national securities
exchange, unlawfully (a) employed a device, sobeor artifice to defraud, (b) made an untrue
statement of a material fact or omitted to statmaterial fact necessary in order to make the
statements made, in the light of the circuanses under which they were made, not misleading,
or (c) engaged in an act, practice, or cowrfsbusiness which operated or would operate as a
fraud or deceit upon Plaintiff, in connectiontlwthe purchase or sale of any security.

39. By reason of the foregoing, Park violatektion 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15

U.S.C. a 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5[17 C.F.R. & 240.10b-5] thereunder.

VI. SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
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Rule 10b-5 — Unsuitability.

40. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alléga contained in Paragraphs 1-39 as if
fully set forth herein.

41. Park (a) purchased securities that weresnidéd to PlaintiffOs needs, (b) knew or
reasonably should have known ththe securities were not suitdd PlaintiffOs needs, (c)
purchased the unsuitable securitfes Plaintiff anyway, and (dfailed to disclose material
information relating to the unsuitabytibf the securities to Plaintiff.

42. Park, by purchasing securities that warsuitable for PlaintiffOs investment
needs and goals, directly or indirectly, by the w§ a means or instrumility of interstate
commerce, or of the mails or of a facility of a national securities exchange, unlawfully (a)
employed a device, scheme, or &#fto defraud, (b) made an urdrstatement of a material fact
or omitted to state a material fact necessary deoto make the statements made, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were mau#, misleading, or (c) engaged in an act,
practice, or course of business which opetate would operate as a fraud or deceit upon
Plaintiff, in connection with the pahase or sale of any security.

43. By reason of the foregoing, Park violatekttion 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15

U.S.C. & 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5[ 17 C.F.R. @ 240.10b-5] thereunder.

VII. THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Violation of the Tennessee Securities Act of
1980 — Churning.
44. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-43 as if
fully set forth herein.
45. Park, by making trades that were exsessn light of PlaintiffOs investment
objectives, by exercising control over Plaintif©sount, and by acting with the intent to defraud
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or with willful and reckless disgard of PlaintiffOs interests, unlawfully churned PlaintiffOs
account.

46. Park, by churning PlaintiffOs accouniawfully (a) employed a device, scheme,
or artifice to defraud Rintiff or (b) engaged in an act,gatice or course of business which
operated as a fraud or deceit upon Plaintiff and€ceived consideration from Plaintiff on the
primary basis of advising as to the vabfesecurities or their purchase or sale.

47. By reason of the foregoing, Park ai@ld Section 21 of éhTennessee Securities

Act of 1980 [T.C.A. o 48-2-121].

VIII. FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Violation of the Tennessee Securities Act of
1980 — Unsuitability.

48. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every allaga contained in Paragraphs 1-47 as if
fully set forth herein.

49. Park (a) purchased securities that wetesuited to the PlaintiffOs needs, (b) knew
or reasonably should have known that the secursiter® not suited to the PlaintiffOs needs, (c)
purchased the unsuitable securitfes Plaintiff anyway, and (dfailed to disclose material
information relating to the unsuitabiibf the securities to Plaintiff.

50. Park, by purchasing securities that warsuitable for PlaintiffOs investment
needs and goals, unlawfully (a) employed a dewckeme, or artifice to élmud Plaintiff or (b)
engaged in an act, practice or course ofiress which operated as a fraud or deceit upon
Plaintiff and (c) received consideration from Btdf on the primary basis of advising as to the
value of securities or their purchase or sale.

51. By reason of the foregoing, Park waild Section 21 of éhTennessee Securities
Act of 1980 [T.C.A. & 48-2-121].
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IX. FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Liability of the Controlling Person.

52. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-51 as if
fully set forth herein.

53. Park has violated Section 10(b) of tixchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.
1% Discount failed to appropriately superviselPand failed to prevent his unlawful actions.

54.  As aresult of ParkOs violations of the Exchange Act, and betdisedunt had
control over Park, either mictly or indirectly, i Discount has violate@ection 20(a) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. a 78t(a)] and is #fere jointly and several liable for PlaintiffOs

damages.

X. SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Breach of Fiduciary Duties of Loyalty and Care.

55. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-54 as if
fully set forth herein.

56. Park was to invest PlaintiffOs morieyan appropriate manner, in light of
PlaintiffOs stated investment goals and needs.

57. By unlawfully purchasing numerous uitable securities and churning PlaintiffOs
account, by eventually abandoning PlaintiffO@ut; and by forging PlaintiffOs signature on
important documents, Park failed to managaeirf@ffOs account appropriately, and instead,

furthered ParkOs own interests.

58. By reason of the foregoing, Park (a) owed fiduciary duties of loyalty and care to

Plaintiff, (b) breached those duties, and (c)lheach of those duties resulted in significant harm
to Plaintiff.
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XI. SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Negligence.

59. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alléga contained in Paragraphs 1-58 as if
fully set forth herein.

60. By purchasing numerous stocks on Hebf Plaintiff that were unsuitable for
PlaintiffOs investment goals and needs, Palédféao adhere to the National Association of
Securities DealersO (ONASDO) Rule 2310. Teigaguired Park toeasonably investigate
PlaintiffOs financial status, tax statusyelstment objectives, and any other reasonable
information, prior to carryig out such transactions.

61. Park negligently breached his duty owedPlaintiff by failing to appropriately
adhere to NASD Rule 2310, by gayging in churning, by execoti unsuitable trades, and by
eventually abandoning Plaintiff®s account' Discount, by abandonin@laintiffOs account,
negligently breached its duty owed taiBtiff. Such breaches by Park anti Discount were

direct and proximate causes of PlaintiffOs damages.

XII. EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Negligent Supervision.

62. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alléga contained in Paragraphs 1-61 as if
fully set forth herein.

63. ' Discount owed a duty to Plaintiff tsse due care in supervising Park.

64. ' Discount negligently supervised mRaby failing to prevent him from
unlawfully purchasing unsuitable securitiesueting PlaintiffOs account, forging PlaintiffOs
signature, abandoning PlaintgfGaccount, breaching his fidunja duties to Plaintiff and

negligently managing PlaintiffCaccount, especially given Park@istory of forging client
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documents and mismanaging client accounts.
65. In committing the aforementioned acts or omissiofisDiscount negligently
breached said duty to use due care, whickctly and proximately resulted in damages to

Plaintiff as alleged herein.

XIII. NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Respondeat Superior.

66. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-65 as if
fully set forth herein.
67. At all times relevant, Park was actinghmn the scope of his employment. As a

result, ' Discount is liable for his actions uexdthe doctrine of respondeat superior.

XIV. TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Negligent Misrepresentation.

68. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-67 as if
fully set forth herein.

69. Park convinced Plaintiff to open anwvéstment account by misrepresenting that
Park would manage the account in a manner thatsbiétsd PlaintiffOs imests. By unlawfully
purchasing numerous unsuitable securitasd churning Plaini®s account, by forging
PlaintiffOs signature on importaddcuments, by eventually afdoning PlaintiffOs account and
by breaching his duties of loyalty and care owedPlaintiff, Park failed to manage PlaintiffOs
account appropriately, and insteadttiered ParkOs own interests.

70. By reason of the foregoing, Park, (a) while acting in the course of his business,
profession or employment, or in a transactiin which he had a pecuniary interest, (b)
negligently supplied false information to Plaihtjc) that was intendedo guide Plaintiff in
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PlaintiffOs business transaction,levifd) Plaintiff justifiably reled on the information and (e)

suffered damages as a result.

XV. ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Intentional Misrepresentation.

71. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-70 as if
fully set forth herein.

72. Park convinced Plaintiff to open anwvéstment account by misrepresenting that
Park would manage the account in a manner thatsbétsd PlaintiffOs imests. By unlawfully
purchasing numerous unsuitable securitasd churning Plaini®s account, by forging
PlaintiffOs signature on importatdcuments, by eventually abdoning PlaintiffOs account, and
by breaching his duties of loyalty and care owedlaintiff, Park knowingly failed to manage
PlaintiffOs account appropriately, andéast furthered ParkOs own interests.

73. By reason of the foregoing, Park (a) madeepresentation of a present or past
material fact (b) that was false, (c) knew ttiegt representation was false when it was made, and
(d) intended that Plaintiff relypon the misrepresetitan. Plaintiff (e)did not know that any
misrepresentations were false and was justifieceiying on ParkOs misrepresentations. As a

result, (f) Plaintiff sufferedlamages as described herein.

XVI. TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Fraud.

74. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-73 as if
fully set forth herein.
75. Park convinced Plaintiff to open anwvéstment account by misrepresenting that
Park would manage the account in a manner thatsoétsd PlaintiffOs imests. By unlawfully
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purchasing numerous unsuitable securitasd churning PlainiOs account, by forging
PlaintiffOs signature on importatdcuments, by eventually abdoning PlaintiffOs account, and
by breaching his duties of loyalty and care owedPlmintiff, Park knowingly failed to manage
PlaintiffOs account appropriately, and instead, furthered ParkOs own interests.

76. By reason of the foregoing, Park (a)d@an intentional misrepresentation with
regard to a material fact, (bjad knowledge of the representationOs falsity, and (c) knew that

Plaintiff reasonably relied on the snepresentation and suffered damage.

XVII. THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Breach of Contract.

77. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-76 as if
fully set forth herein.
78. The actions or inactions of all Defentsaamounted to a breaci their contracts

with Plaintiff that resulted in damages to Plaintiff.

XIII. FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Unjust Enrichment.

79. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alldga contained in Paragraphs 1-78 as if
fully set forth herein.

80. Park and *1Discount received money, in therfio of excess commissions, from
transactions executed by Park.

81. By reason of the foregoing, (a) Plaintiff conferred mefie upon Park and®1
Discount, (b) Park and®IDiscount appreciated such benedind (c) it would be inequitable for

Park and T Discount to be unjustly eiched in such a manner.
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XIX. FIFTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF:
Violation of the Tennessee Consumer Protection Act.

82. Plaintiff reaffirms each and every alléga contained in Paragraphs 1-81 as if
fully set forth herein.

83. By unlawfully purchasing numerous uitable securities and churning PlaintiffOs
account, by eventually abandoning PlaintiffOs accandtby breaching his duties of loyalty and
care owed to Plaintiff, Park failed to manaB&intiffOs account ampriately, and instead,
furthered ParkOs own interests.

84. T' Discount failed to appropriately monitor Park and, like Park, eventually
abandoned PlaintiffOs account.

85. By reason of the foregoing, Park affddiscount (a) have engaged in the use or
employment of an unfair or deceptive act or practb) that has resulted in an ascertainable loss
to Plaintiff, in violation of the Tennesse®@Sumer Protection Acif 1977 [T.C.A. © 47-18-101

et seq.

XX. PRAYERS FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, Plaingpectfully requesthis Court to grant
the following relief:

a. That process issue and the defendantsefbaired to appear and answer this
Complaint within the time prescribed by law;

b. That the Court award Plaintiff compensgtdamages, representing trading losses
and commission charges, in an amountless than Eighty Thousand Dollars ($80,000.00);

C. That the Court award Plaintiff puniticlamages in an amount not less than Four
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($400,000.00);

d. That the Court award Plaintiff treblerdages and attorney fees pursuant to the
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Tennessee Consumer Protection Act;

e. That the Court order Park arftilliscount to disgorge their unjust enrichment;

f. A jury of twelve to try the issuepined herein and aight to amend this
Complaint to conform to the evidence as diggwontinues;

g. That all costs relevant to this mattecluding reasonable atteey fees and other
disbursements, be taxed to the defendants and awarded to Plaintiff; and

h. An award of discretionary costs ane@ ttosts of this cause, and for such other

further and general relief ti@ourt deems just and proper.
Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Bryan L. Mills

Bryan L. Mills (BPR # 025034)
LITWIN & LITWIN, PLLC

1616 Westgate Circle
Brentwood, TN 37027

(615) 844-6156

Fax (615) 844-6157
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